

Keep the ball rolling: sexual differences in conglobation behavior of a terrestrial isopod under different degrees of perceived predation pressure

Francisco Javier Zamora-Camacho

Department of Biogeography and Global Change. Museo Nacional de Ciencias Naturales,
(MNCN-CSIC), C/José Gutiérrez Abascal 2, 28006, Madrid, Spain.

Email address: zamcam@mncn.csic.es

Abstract

Background. Antipredator behaviors are theoretically subjected to a balance by which their display should be minimized when their benefits do not outweigh their costs. Such costs may be not only energetic, but also entail a reduction in the time available for other fitness-enhancing behaviors. However, these behaviors are only beneficial under predation risk. Therefore, antipredator behaviors are predicted to be maximized under strong predation risk. Moreover, predation pressure can differ among individuals according to traits such as sex or body size, if these traits increase vulnerability. Antipredator behaviors are expected to be maximized in individuals whose traits make them more conspicuous to predators. [However, how these factors interact is not always understood.](#)

Methods. In this work, I tested [these hypotheses](#) in the common pill woodlouse (*Armadillidium vulgare*), which conglobate (i.e., they roll up their bodies almost conforming a sphere that conceals their appendages) in response to predator attacks. Specifically, I tested whether latency to unroll [after a standardized mechanical induction](#) was greater in animals exposed to predator

Commented [OV1]: Which factors?

Commented [OV2]: which hypothesis?

chemical cues ([toad feces](#)) than in conspecifics exposed to cues of non-predatory animals ([rabbits](#)) or no chemical cues whatsoever (distilled water), incorporating sex and body mass in the analyses.

Results. In agreement with my prediction, latency to unroll was greater in individuals exposed to predator chemical cues. In other words, these animals engage in conglobation for longer under perceived predator vicinity. However, this result was only true for males. This sexual dimorphism in antipredator behavior could result from males being under greater predation risk than females, thus having evolved more refined antipredator strategies. Indeed, males of this species are known to actively search for females, which makes them more prone to superficial ground mobility, and likely to being detected by predators. Body size was unrelated to latency to unroll. As a whole, these results support the hypothesis that antipredator behavior is tuned to predator cues in a way consistent with a balance between costs and benefits.

Introduction

Predators erode their prey's fitness in various ways, thus embodying a potent selective pressure on them (Abrams, 2000; Lima, 2002). First and foremost, successful predatory events involve the annihilation of the prey's life, and consequently of any potential future fitness it might have had (Barbosa and Castellanos, 2005; Beauchamp et al., 2007). However, predators also exert non-lethal effects on their prey that are also pivotal in multifarious ways (Lima, 1998; Preisser et al., 2005; Wirsing et al., 2021). After consumption, the [second](#) gravest damage predators inflict on their prey is probably represented by physical injury following failed attacks (Laha and Mattingly, 2007; Bowerman et al., 2010), which frequently entail infections (Aeby and Santavy, 2006) as well as impaired locomotion, growth, and ultimately fitness (Archie, 2013; Zamora-Camacho and Aragón, 2019; Zamora-Camacho and Calsbeek, 2022). Even in the absence of an

Commented [OV3]: But the cost OR benefit varies between the sexes for the response was sex-specific. This is pretty important from evolutionary point of view – differing outcomes of selection refer to differing selective pressures and/or differing trade-off between the sexes.

48 actual attack, preys are bound to face the harmful effects of predators. Some animal species
49 innately possess physical (Mukherjee and Heithaus, 2013) or chemical defenses (Glendinning,
50 2007), occasionally remarkably sophisticated (Zamora-Camacho, 2023), which can dissuade
51 predators (Brown et al., 2016). Moreover, most prey are equipped with sensory systems capable
52 of detecting predator vicinity (Leavell and Bernal, 2019). Such perceived predator proximity
53 oftentimes elicits the expression of inducible morphological or chemical defenses of different
54 types (Kishida et al., 2010; Yamamichi et al., 2019). In either case, whether innate or inducible,
55 these defenses can be costly, given the energy diverted to their production (Hamill et al., 2008;
56 Gilbert, 2013; Hermann et al., 2014; Zvereva et al., 2017), and the fact that the metabolic
57 processes involved in these responses may even trigger oxidative stress (Janssens and Stoks,
58 2013).

59 On a different note, prey can also tune their behavior to the threat represented by potential
60 predators (Lima and Dill, 1990; McGhee et al., 2013) and the level of risk involved (Kavaliers
61 and Choleris, 2001). The most immediate antipredator behavior is oftentimes spatial
62 circumvention, which prevents an actual encounter (Palmer et al., 2022; Suraci et al., 2022).
63 Also, prey typically respond to predator proximity by diminishing the conspicuousness of their
64 activities (Moll et al., 2020; Balaban-Feld et al., 2022). When the encounter is imminent,
65 however, prey can decide whether to face or avoid the predator depending on the chances of
66 success of each strategy (Reichmuth et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2020). A particularly common
67 reaction of prey to such encounters is flight (Møller and Erritzøe, 2014; Basille et al., 2015). In
68 addition, more refined behaviors against predation are likewise common, such as postural
69 strategies that facilitate the deflection of the attack towards a non-vital (Myyette et al., 2019) or
70 well protected body region (Crofts and Stankowich, 2021), that make it difficult for the predator

to handle and subdue the prey (Kowalski et al., 2018), or that invoke death feigning or thanatosis (Humphreys and Ruxton, 2018). This wide array of antipredator behaviors can coexist in the same individual and be subjected to complex interactions (Lind and Cresswell, 2005).

In any case, antipredator behavior is not devoid of costs. Besides the energy demands of strategies such as flight, which involves a frequently intense muscular exertion (Biewener and Patek, 2018), a cost in terms of fitness is expected given that antipredator behaviors are time-consuming (Lima and Dill, 1990) and thus reduce the time devoted to foraging, mating and reproducing (Langerhans, 2007; Gulsby et al., 2018). The final decision of a prey regarding whether and to which extent to engage in antipredator behaviors should be made considering a balance between their costs and benefits (Herberholz and Marquart, 2012). Indeed, antipredator defenses are expected to be selected against in the absence of predators (Reznick et al., 2008; Palkovacs et al., 2011), at least to a certain extent (Blumstein, 2006), which could release the bearer from the costs associated to such behaviors if they are no longer beneficial. In fact, the success of a given antipredator behavior depends on diverse circumstances, [and can vary according to such as the actual](#) predatory pressure and the qualitative and quantitative expressions of the antipredator behaviors adopted by other potential preys (Menezes, 2021).

Indeed, prey are predicted to adjust their antipredator behavior to the actual intensity of predator pressure, responding strongly when predators are an actual threat, but mildly when that threat is lesser (Sih et al., 2000; Ferrari et al., 2009). Also, even at the intraspecific level, some individuals can be at higher risk than others, depending on differences in morphology (Zamora-Camacho, 2022) and personality (Sommer and Schmitz, 2020) that can make some individuals more or less prone to succumb to predator attacks. Given that, probably as a part of their mating strategies, males are often morphologically (Williams and Carroll, 2009) or behaviorally

(Schuett et al., 2010) more conspicuous than females, males can be subjected to a stronger predation pressure than females (Husak et al., 2006; Kojima et al., 2014), thus responding with stronger antipredator strategies (Husak and Fox, 2008; Zamora-Camacho, 2022).

In this context, this work aims to contextualize the display of an unusual antipredator behavior, conglobation in common pill woodlice (*Armadillidium vulgare*), as a function of extrinsic factors, such as predator cues, and intrinsic traits, such as body mass and sex, [which relationships are poorly understood](#). Conglobation is a particular behavior by which these animals coil up into a ball when disturbed, concealing their appendages within their dark grey cuticle (Cazzolla Gatti et al., 2020). This position makes them not only difficult to handle, but also resemble a pebble rather than edible animals (Tuf and Ďurajková, 2022), which has been interpreted as tonic immobility or even as thanatosis (Horvátz et al., 2019; Cazzolla Gatti et al., 2020). [Therefore, this behavior can be particularly efficient against non-gape limited predators, especially those which detect their prey through their movements, such as amphibians.](#) Specifically, I studied the time spent by male and female *A. vulgare* in the conglobated position in the presence and the absence of olfactory predator ([toads](#)) cues [after conglobation was mechanically induced in a standardized way \(poking the animals with a stick\), using chemical cues of non-predatory animals \(rabbits\) as a control](#). In line with the aforementioned rationale that antipredator behavior is costly, I predict that the conglobated position will be abandoned earlier in the absence of predator cues, when its potential benefits are lower. Also, I expect that, if one of the sexes is under greater predation pressure [\(which might be the case of males, which seem to be more active according to certain evidence \[Dangerfield and Hassall, 1994\]\)](#), this risk will have selected for a stronger reaction to predator cues.

Materials & Methods

Study species

The common pill woodlouse (*A. vulgare*) is a terrestrial isopod, native to the Mediterranean region but introduced worldwide (Schmalfuss, 2003), that occupies a variety of temperate habitats. It shows a preference for a certain degree of moisture (Bonuti et al., 2021), which can determine some extent of small-scale seasonal migration in search of sufficient yet not excessive humidity (Paris, 1963). Reproduction takes place in the summer in cold regions (Dangerfield and Hassall, 1992), but in spring in more temperate areas (Sorensen and Burkett, 1977). Females possess a ventral ~~pouch~~ marsupium where eggs are deposited until hatching (Suzuki, 2001; Suzuki and Futami, 2018). As a macrodecomposer, it feeds on a variety of dead organic matter sources (Paris, 1963) which it selects according to its quality (Tuck and Hassall, 2005). In turn, a wide array of invertebrates, amphibians and reptiles have been cited as predators of this species (Paris, 1963). Against these predators, *A. vulgare* can resort to a wide array of morphological and behavioral defenses, such as crypsis, immobility, escape or sheltering, among which conglobations is particularly common (Horváth et al., 2019). However, males and females could differ in their activity rates (Dangerfield and Hassall, 1994), which might lead to different predation pressure between the sexes, with the concomitant divergence in antipredator responses. Also, larger individuals tend to take greater risks in this species (Horváth et al., 2019).

Animal capture and management

Fieldwork took place in Pinares de Cartaya (SW Spain; 37° 21'N, 7° 11'O), an 11,000-ha *Pinus pinea* grove with an undergrowth dominated by *Rosmarinus officinalis*, *Pistacia lentiscus* and *Cistus ladanifer*. In this forest, I collected 43 adult *A. vulgare* (19 females and 24 males) by hand, searching under rocks, decaying logs, and other potential refugia at appropriate sites.

Commented [OV4]: We have studied the risk taking variation in males and females – these old work may include some more evidence that would make the likely sex difference in risk-taking more reliable. Later we also have focused on sex-differences in activity rates BUT in our isopod spp (*Idotea balthica*) the sex difference in activity is clearer on reproductive time. These papers could offer references important to the sex-differences-issue. However. they are already old.

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2017.12.023>

DOI: [10.1111/eth.12323](https://doi.org/10.1111/eth.12323)

<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2017.12.023>

141 However, to diminish the chances of capturing genetically related individuals, only one specimen
142 was caught at a given site, and at least 50 m were left among sites (Horváth et al., 2019;
143 Beveridge et al., 2022). Sampling took place in February 2022, immediately before the onset of
144 the mating season ([which beings in the early spring in this area, pers. obs.](#)), because parental care
145 can affect antipredator behavior in females, involving a difficulty in the adoption of the
146 conglobated position, which could affect the results (Suzuki and Futami, 2018).

147 The animals captured were transferred to the laboratory, where they were assigned an ID
148 number, weighed to the nearest 0.01 g with a CDS-100 scale, and individually housed in
149 cylindric plastic terraria (6 cm diameter x 15 cm height) with wet peat as a substrate, a piece of
150 fresh carrot as nourishment, and a wet cotton disk (4 cm diameter x 1 mm thick) above it as a
151 shelter. The terraria were randomly set in a shelf in the laboratory, and their position was
152 changed every 24 hours. A window let daylight in, which permitted the adjustment of circadian
153 rhythms. Room temperature was not manipulated, and fluctuated naturally between 10 °C at
154 night and 20°C during the day.

155 The behavioral tests began 24 hours after capture. These tests were conducted in
156 individual cylindric plastic terraria (4 cm diameter x 10 cm height) with a cotton disk lining (4
157 cm diameter x 1 mm thick) at the bottom. [Because T](#)his species interprets chemical cues to
158 identify [dead conspecifics \(Yao et al., 2009\)](#), potential mates (Beauché and Richard, 2013) and
159 predators (Pniewski, 2014), and tunes its conglobation behavior [can](#) to diverse environmental
160 factors (Horváth et al., 2019). [Therefore](#), I used different chemical cues (or the absence thereof)
161 in three separate tests. In the experimental tests, the cotton disk at the bottom of the terrarium
162 was soaked with a 1-mL aliquot extracted from a preparation of 0.5L of distilled water where
163 50g of a mix of fresh feces from 2 male and 2 female adult common toads (*Bufo spinosus*),

Commented [OV5]: delete?

164 captured in the same habitat as the woodlice, had been diluted. These toads are abundant and
165 widespread generalist predators of invertebrates, including isopods (Ortiz-Santaliestra, 2014). In
166 the control tests, the cotton disk at the bottom of the terrarium was soaked with a 1-mL aliquot
167 extracted from a preparation of 0.5L of distilled water where 50g of a mix of fresh feces from 4
168 different European rabbit (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) latrines (separated by at least 600 m) from the
169 same habitat as the woodlice, had been diluted. These rabbits are abundant and widespread
170 generalist herbivores (Gálvez-Bravo, 2017). [Feces of both toads and rabbits, these originated](#)
171 [from natural, uncontrolled diets, thus representing what the isopods are likely to find in nature.](#) In
172 the manipulation control tests, the cotton disk at the bottom of the terrarium was soaked with 1
173 mL of distilled water. In this way, humidity was constant across tests, which avoided a potential
174 effect of moisture on conglobation behavior, as conglobation can also be a behavioral strategy
175 against water loss in these animals (Smigel and Gibbs, 2008).

176 For these tests, each individual was placed alone in one arena as described above. After 5
177 minutes for habituation, I gently poked the animal with a wooden stick until it adopted the fully
178 conglobated position. The test ended when the individual abandoned this position. All
179 individuals underwent all three tests, with a 24-h resting period in between. Every time, the
180 cotton disks were replaced and the arenas were rinsed thoroughly. Conglobation behavior in
181 these animals is affected by previous experience (Matsuno and Moriyama, 2012). For that
182 reason, the sequence in which the tests involving the different stimuli were conducted was
183 random for each individual ([partial results involving solely the first trial can be found as](#)
184 [Supplementary Material](#)).

185 All tests were recorded with a Canon EOS 550D video camera. The resulting footages
186 were then studied using the software Tracker v 6.0.8, which allows frame-by-frame analyses.

Specifically, I measured latency to unroll as the time each individual spent in the conglobated position, by recording the time elapsed since the frame in which this position was adopted until it was abandoned. After the tests, the woodlice were sexed, based on the presence of the [abdominal pouch-marsupium in the ventral side of the pereion](#) in females [after the parturial mold prior to reproduction \(Surbida and Wright, 2001; Suzuki, 2002\)](#), and released in the same habitat where they had been captured.

193

194 Statistics

Latency to unroll needed to be ln-transformed in order to meet the assumptions of homoscedasticity and residual normality needed for parametric statistics (Quinn and Keough, 2002). After that, a mixed model was conducted where latency to unroll (ln-transformed) was the response variable, sex, treatment and their interactions were included as factors, body mass was included as a covariate, and ID was a random factor. Sum of squares was type III. A Tukey post-hoc test was applied on the interaction term. These tests were conducted with the package *lmerTest* (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in the software R v. 4.1.2 (R Core Team, 2021). [A similar test but excluding sex can be found as Supplementary Material.](#)

203

204 Results

Body mass had no significant effect on latency to unroll ($F_{1, 122} = 0.698$; $\beta = -2.843$; $P = 0.409$). The effect of sex on latency to unroll was non-significant ($F_{1, 122} = 0.073$; $P = 0.789$), but that of treatment was significant ($F_{2, 122} = 5.823$; $P = 0.004$). According to the Tukey post-hoc test applied on the marginally non-significant Sex×Treatment interaction ($F_{2, 122} = 2.786$; $P = 0.068$), [males exposed to toad scent had greater latency to unroll than males exposed to rabbit scent and to water, and than females exposed to water](#), with every other pairwise comparison being non-

Commented [OV6]: Here I would like to get also the pair-wise comparison of the main effect treatment. If the interaction was no-doubt significant, we would be happy with it, but here it could be good to know what this factor says, too. Likely a toad-water significant effect.

Commented [OV7]: I disagree with the disagreeing of the author about the multiple comparison of the pairwise comparisons. In the statistical background I come from, in frequentist statistics multiple comparisons need to be adjusted. In this, case, we have $p=0.007$ for male toad vs male water, and this likely remains significant anyway. This is also a crucial comparison. Instead, the 0.033 of the two comparisons are there and there, but they also are not so important (male-female variation in toad vs water is difficult to interpret and male toad vs rabbit could be expected to be less significant than toad vs water).

significant (Table 1; Fig. 1). When sex was excluded from the model, treatment had a significant effect on latency to unroll, where the only significant pairwise comparison was between the treatments with water and toad cues according to the Tukey post-hoc test (Supplementary Material).

Commented [OV8]: There has to be a reason for leaving a factor out. AIC-values could be used to compare models and leave sex out if AIC allows. But it would only make harm, for then you would not get the sex x treatment interaction. Further, I did not really understand why to do this analyses. I did ask above for the pairwise comparison of the main factor "treatment", but it could be achieved also in the "full model".

Discussion

Some of these results were in agreement with my predictions. In the first place, latency to unroll was greater in the presence of predator chemical cues than in the absence of it. According to theory, predator vicinity can trigger a fear response on the prey, which is not devoid of costs (Wang and Zou, 2018; Qiao et al., 2019; Tripathi et al., 2022). Previous research supports that, in behavioral terms, most prey reduce their susceptibility to predators by diminishing their activity rates when threatened (Brodin and Johansson, 2004; Laurila et al., 2006), even resorting to total immobility (Brooks et al., 2009) and death feigning (Konishi et al., 2020). However, by engaging in such antipredator behavior, prey inevitably reduce the amount of time available for other fitness-enhancing activities, such as mating, feeding, and territory defense (Persons et al., 2002; Lind and Cresswell, 2005), which may entail negative effects, for example on growth (Brodin and Johansson, 2004; Laurila et al., 2006) and reproduction (Persons et al., 2002; Kemprij et al., 2020). These costs can be assumed to affect *A. vulgare* when remaining in a conglobated position, although little is known in this regard about this particular species. Thus, such antipredator behaviors are allegedly subjected to a balance between these costs and their benefits, namely predator avoidance. In this context, prey are expected to minimize antipredator behaviors when their benefits are scarce, i.e. under low predation risk (Ferrari et al. 2008; Supekar and Gramapurohit, 2020; Batabyal et al., 2022). This prediction is supported by these results, as

Commented [OV9]: For this claim opening up the main factor "treatment" in the analyses is important.

234 latency to unroll was greater in the presence of predator chemical cues presented in the short
235 term. ~~Such a result contrasts with a previous study on this species, according to which long term~~
236 ~~contact with predatory ants relates to a shift in flight behavior, which does not happen after~~
237 ~~short term exposure (Hegarty and Kight, 2014).~~ Similarly, the marine isopod *Idotea balthica*
238 ~~lowers its activity in the presence of chemical cues from a native predatory fish (Yli-Renko et al.,~~
239 ~~2022). However, a different study reports that *A. vulgare* remains unresponsive to chemical cues~~
240 ~~of an arachnid predator (Zimmerman and Kight, 2016).~~

241 Nonetheless, this greater latency to unroll in the presence of predator chemical cues was
242 only observed in males, whereas females did not respond to these cues with an increase in time
243 to unroll. ~~This observation is based on an interaction between sex and treatment that was~~
244 ~~marginally non-significant, but it provides a hint of sex differences in responses to treatments.~~
245 While the possibility that females lack the ability to recognize predator chemical cues cannot be
246 discarded, a greater response of males as a result of a male-biased predation risk could be a more
247 plausible explanation. In circumstances where both sexes are under equivalent risk, their
248 response to predator cues might not differ (David et al., 2014; Kempraj et al., 2020; Saavedra et
249 al., 2022). However, whenever one sex is under greater risk than the other, it is expected to
250 evolve more efficient antipredator responses (Curio et al., 1983). Although in some species
251 females have been found to face greater predation risk (Post and Götmark, 2006) and to respond
252 with greater intensity to predator pressure (Pärssinen et al., 2021; Woodrow et al., 2021), in most
253 cases males are more conspicuous to predators as a result of more active behaviors (Tobler et al.,
254 2008), such as territory defense (Gwynne and O'Neill, 1980), female pursuit (Fišer et al., 2019)
255 and courtship (Whitaker et al., 2021). Accordingly, males display a stronger behavioral response
256 to predation risk in taxa as disparate as mammals (Grignolio et al., 2019), birds (van den Bemt et

257 al., 2021), reptiles (Bohórquez Alonso et al., 2010), snails (Donelan and Trussell, 2020), insects
258 (Schultz, 1981), spiders (Krupa and Sih, 1998) or crabs (Jennions et al., 2003).

259 In the specific case of *A. vulgare*, ~~different~~ lines of evidence suggest that males could be
260 more active, and thus more detectable by predators, which could favor a greater investment in
261 antipredator behavior. In the first place, genetic analyses have revealed that females are
262 philopatric whereas males are not, which is compatible with males being more prone to dispersal
263 and, allegedly, to be intercepted by predators (Durand et al., 2019). Moreover, males are known
264 to actively search for females based on chemical cues (Beauché and Richard, 2013) and to
265 compete for access to them given their multiple paternity scheme (Verne, 2007; Valette et al.,
266 2016). Also, male presence can stimulate female receptiveness (Lefebvre and Caubet, 1999).
267 These features could be accompanied by behavioral displays that might increase male
268 conspicuousness to predators. Indeed, males ~~are~~could be more active in the ground surface,
269 whereas females tend to make a greater use of underground shelters, which is a probable
270 consequence of the former actively competing and searching for the latter (Dangerfield and
271 Hassall, 1994). Nonetheless, until all of these facts are properly studied, this assumption can be
272 considered plausible, but speculative.

273 In correspondence with previous studies on this species (Beveridge et al., 2022), body
274 mass was uncorrelated with latency to unroll, as well as with other antipredator behaviors
275 (Cazzolla Gatti et al., 2020). This finding contrasts with research that indicates that antipredator
276 behavior depends on body size on other taxa, both vertebrates (Hoare et al., 2000; Roth and
277 Johnson, 2004) and invertebrates (Johnson et al., 2017; Gavini et al., 2020), including larger
278 crustaceans (Wahle, 1992). In this case, the relatively small size of the focal species might make
279 variation in body size irrelevant for most potential predators, thus not selecting for differential

Commented [OV10]: The sexual difference in activity is still to be examined, but different lines of evidence...

280 antipredator strategies at varying sizes. In any case, conglobation behavior is known to be
281 repeatable in this species (Cornwell et al., 2023), which advocates for consistency in the patterns
282 described herein.

283 284 **Conclusions**

285 To conclude, latency to unroll was greater in individuals exposed to predator chemical cues,
286 which supports the prediction that *A. vulgare* can detect these cues and react accordingly,
287 [although these differences were led by males](#). Moreover, this finding concurs with the theoretical
288 assumption that antipredator behaviors are subjected to a cost-benefit balance, by which they
289 should be minimized when their benefits do not outweigh their costs. Antipredator behaviors are
290 only beneficial under predation risk, which could be the reason why these animals engage in
291 conglobation for longer under perceived predator vicinity. However, this result was only true for
292 males. This sexual dimorphism in antipredator behavior could indicate that males are under
293 greater predation risk than females, thus having evolved more refined antipredator strategies.
294 Indeed, males of this species are known to actively search for females, which makes them more
295 prone to superficial ground mobility, and likely to being detected by predators.

296 297 **Acnowkledgements**

298
299 [Comments by Ivan Tuf and Outi Vesakoski improved the manuscript.](#)
300

301 **References**

- 302 Abrams PA. 2000. The evolution of predator-prey interactions: theory and evidence. Annual
303 Review of Ecology and Systematics 31: 79-105.
- 304 Aeby GS, Santavy DL. 2006. Factors affecting susceptibility of the coral *Montastraea faveolata*
305 to black-band disease. Marine Ecology Progress Series 318: 103–110.

Commented [OV11]: How about something in line like: Moreover, these findings- that selection for antipredator responses exists but only in males -specific - together with theoretical assumption that antipred behaviours are subjected to cost-benefit balance, poses predictions that males are under greater predation risk than females and that there is cost of rolling behaviour that females avoid paying by not responding to same stimulus as males.

306 Archie EA. 2013. Wound healing in the wild: Stress, sociality and energetic costs affect wound
307 healing in natural populations. *Parasite Immunology* 35: 374–385.

308 Balaban-Feld J, Vijayan S, Mitchell WA, Kotler BP, Badichi S, Abramsky Z. 2022. High risk of
309 predation suppresses behavioural differences among bold and shy social prey individuals.
310 *Behaviour* 159: 1401-1420.

311 Barbosa P, Castellanos I. 2005. Ecology of predator-prey interactions. Oxford University Press.

312 Basille M, Fortin D, Dussault C, Bastille-Rousseau G, Ouellet JP, Courtois R. 2015. Plastic
313 response of fearful prey to spatiotemporal dynamics of predator distribution. *Ecology* 96:
314 2622-2631.

315 Batabyal A, Chau D, Rivi V, Lukowiak K. 2022. Risk in one is not risk in all: snails show
316 differential decision making under high- and low-risk environments. *Animal Behaviour*
317 190: 53-60.

318 Beauchamp DA, Wahl D, Johnson BM. 2007. Predator–prey interactions. In: Guy CS, Brown
319 MJ, eds. *Analysis and Interpretation of Inland Fisheries Data*. Bethesda, MD: American
320 Fisheries Society, 765–842.

321 Beauché F, Richard FJ. 2013. The best timing of mate search in *Armadillidium vulgare* (Isopoda,
322 Oniscidea) *PLoS ONE* 8: e57737.

323 Beveridge D, Mitchell DJ, Beckmann C, Biro PA. 2022. Weak evidence that asset protection
324 underlies temporal or contextual consistency in boldness of a terrestrial crustacean.
325 *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 76: 94.

326 Biewener AA, Patek SN. 2018. Animal locomotion. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

327 Blumstein DT. 2006. The multipredator hypothesis and the evolutionary persistence of
328 antipredator behavior. *Ethology* 112: 209-217.

329 Bonuti R, Crispim JMB, Czentine MM, Morato S. 2021. Comparison of exploratory behavior of
330 two different animal species: woodlice (*Armadillidium vulgare*) and rats (*Rattus*
331 *norvegicus*). International Journal of Comparative Psychology 34: 467-36.
332 Bowerman J, Johnson PTJ, Bowerman T. 2010. Sublethal predators and their injured prey:
333 Linking aquatic predators and severe limb abnormalities in amphibians. Ecology 9: 242–
334 251.
335 Brodin T, Johansson F. 2004. Conflicting selection pressures on the growth/predation-risk trade-
336 off in a damselfly. Ecology 85: 2927-2932.
337 Brooks AC, Gaskell PN, Maltby LL. 2009. Sublethal effects and predator-prey interactions:
338 implications for ecological risk assessment. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry
339 28: 2449-2457.
340 Brown JS, Embar K, Hancock E, Kotler BP. 2016. Predators risk injury too: The evolution of
341 derring-do in a predator-prey foraging game. Israel Journal of Ecology and Evolution 62:
342 196–204.
343 Cazzolla Gatti R, Messina G, Tiralongo F, Ursino LA, Lombardo BM. 2020. Learning from the
344 environment: how predation changes the behavior of terrestrial Isopoda (Crustacea
345 Oniscidea). Ethology Ecology and Evolution 32: 29-45.
346 Cornwell TO, Mitchell DJ, Beckmann C, Joynton A, Biro PA. 2023. Multilevel repeatability
347 shows selection may act on both personality and predictability, but neither is state
348 dependent. Animal Behaviour 195: 85-92.
349 Crofts SB, Stankowich T. 2021. Stabbing spines: a review of the biomechanics and evolution of
350 defensive spines. Integrative and Comparative Biology 61: 655-667.

351 Curio E, Klump G, Regelman K. 1983. An anti-predator response in the great tit (*Parus major*):
352 is it tuned to predator risk? *Oecologia* 60: 83-88.

353 Dangerfield JM, Hassall M. 1992. Phenotypic variation in the breeding phenology of the
354 woodlouse *Armadillidium vulgare*. *Oecologia* 89: 140-146.

355 Dangerfield JM, Hassall M. 1994. Shelter site use and secondary sex ratios in the woodlice
356 *Armadillidium vulgare* and *Porcellio scaber* (Crustacea: Isopoda). *Journal of Zoology*
357 233: 1-7.

358 David N, Salignon M, Perrot-Minnot MJ. 2014. Shaping the antipredator strategy: flexibility,
359 consistency, and behavioral correlations under varying predation threat. *Behavioral*
360 *Ecology* 25: 1148-1156.

361 Donelan SC, Trussell GC. 2020. Sex-specific differences in the response of prey to predation
362 risk. *Functional Ecology* 34: 1235-1243.

363 Durand S, Grandjean F, Giraud I, Cordaux R, Beltran-Bech S, Bech N. 2019. Fine-scale
364 population structure analysis in *Armadillidium vulgare* (Isopoda: Oniscidea) reveals
365 strong female philopatry. *Acta Oecologica* 101: 103478.

366 Ferrari MCO, Messier F, Chivers DP. 2008. Variable predation risk and the dynamic nature of
367 mosquito antipredator responses to chemical alarm cues. *Chemoecology* 17: 223-229.

368 Ferrari MCO, Sih A, Chivers DP. 2009. The paradox of risk allocation: a review and prospectus.
369 *Animal Behaviour* 78: 579-585.

370 Fišer Ž, Prevorčnik S, Lozej N, Trontelj P. 2019. No need to hide in caves: shelter-seeking
371 behavior of surface and cave ectomorphs of *Asellus aquaticus* (Isopoda: Crustacea).
372 *Zoology* 134: 58-65.

373 Gálvez-Bravo L. 2017. Conejo – *Oryctolagus cuniculus* (Linnaeus, 1758). In Salvador A, Barja I
 374 (eds) Enciclopedia virtual de los vertebrados españoles. Museo Nacional de Ciencias
 375 Naturales, Madrid. <http://www.vertebradosibericos.org/>
 376 Gavini SS, Quintero C, Tadey M. 2020. Intraspecific variation in body size of bumblebee
 377 workers influences anti-predator behaviour. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 89: 658-669.
 378 Gilbert JJ. 2013. The cost of predator-induced morphological defense in rotifers: Experimental
 379 studies and synthesis. *Journal of Plankton Research* 35: 461–472.
 380 Glendinning JI. 2007. How do predators cope with chemically defended foods? *The Biological*
 381 *Bulletin* 213: 252–266.
 382 Grignolio S, Brivio F, Sica N, Apollonio M. 2019. Sexual differences in the behavioural
 383 response to a variation in predation risk. *Ethology* 125: 603-612.
 384 Gulsby WD, Cherry MJ, Johnson JT, Conner M, Miller KV. 2018. Behavioral response of white-
 385 tailed deer to coyote predation risk. *Ecosphere* 9: e02141.
 386 Gwynne DT, O'Neill KM. 1980. Territoriality in digger wasps results in sex biased predation on
 387 males (Hymenoptera: Sphecidae, *Philanthus*). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological*
 388 *Society* 53: 220-224.
 389 Hamill E, Rogers A, Beckerman AP. 2008. Costs, benefits and the evolution of inducible
 390 defenses: a case study with *Daphnia pulex*. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 21: 705–715.
 391 ~~Hegarty KG, Kight SL. 2014. Do predator cues influence turn alternation behavior in terrestrial~~
 392 ~~isopods *Porcellio laevis* Latreille and *Armadillidium vulgare* Latreille? *Behavioural*~~
 393 ~~*Processes* 106: 168–171.~~
 394 Herberholz J, Marquart GD. 2012. Decision making and behavioral choice during predator
 395 avoidance. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 28: 125.

396 Hermann SL, Thaler JS. 2014. Prey perception of predation risk: volatile chemical cues mediate
397 nonconsumptive effects of a predator on a herbivorous insect. *Oecologia* 176: 669–676.

398 Hoare DJ, Krause J, Peuhkuri N, Godin JGJ. 2000. Body size and shoaling in fish. *Journal of*
399 *Fish Biology* 57: 1351-1366.

400 Horváth G, Garamszegi LZ, Bereczki J, Urszán TJ, Balázs G, Herczeg G. 2019. Roll with the
401 fear: environment and state dependence of pill bug (*Armadillidium vulgare*) personalities.
402 *The Science of Nature* 106: 7.

403 Humphreys RK, Ruxton GD. 2018. A review of thanatosis (death feigning) as an anti-predator
404 behaviour. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 72: 22.

405 Husak JF, Macedonia JM, Fox SF, Saucedo RC. 2006. Predation cost of conspicuous male
406 coloration in collared lizards (*Crotaphytus collaris*): an experimental test using clay-
407 covered model lizards. *Ethology* 112: 572-580.

408 Husak JF, Fox SF. 2008. Sexual selection on locomotor performance. *Evolutionary Ecology*
409 *Research* 10: 213-228.

410 Janssens L, Stoks R. 2013. Predation risk causes oxidative damage in prey. *Biology Letters* 9:
411 20130350.

412 Jennions MD, Backwell PRY, Murai M, Christy JH. 2003. Hiding behaviour in fiddler crabs:
413 how long should prey hide in response to a potential predator? *Animal Behaviour* 66:
414 251-257.

415 Johnson GC, Karajah MT, Mayo K, Armenta TC, Blumstein DT. 2017. The bigger they are the
416 better they taste: size predicts predation risk and anti-predator behavior in giant clams.
417 *Journal of Zoology* 301: 102-107.

418 Kavaliers M, Choleris E. 2001. Antipredator responses and defensive behavior: ecological and
419 ethological approaches for the neurosciences. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 25:
420 577-586.

421 Kempraj V, Park SJ, Taylor PW. 2020. Forewarned is forearmed: Queensland fruit flies detect
422 olfactory cues from predators and respond with predator-specific behaviour. *Scientific*
423 *Reports* 10: 7297.

424 Kishida O, Trusell GC, Mougi A, Nishimura K. 2010. Evolutionary ecology of inducible
425 morphological plasticity in predator-prey interaction: toward the practical links with
426 population ecology. *Population Ecology* 52: 37-46.

427 Kojima W, Sugiura S, Makihara H, Ishikawa Y, Takanashi T. 2014. Rhinoceros beetles suffer
428 male-biased predation by mammalian and avian predators. *Zoological Science* 31: 109-
429 115.

430 Konishi K, Matsumura K, Sakuno W, Miyatake T. 2020. Death feigning as an adaptive anti-
431 predator behaviour: further evidence for its evolution from artificial selection and natural
432 populations. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 33: 1120-1128.

433 Kowalski K, Sawościanik O, Rychlik L. 2018. Do bufonids employ different anti-predator
434 behaviors than ranids? Comparison among three European anurans. *Copeia* 106: 120-129.

435 Krupa JJ, Sih A. 1998. Fishing spiders, green sunfish, and a stream-dwelling water strider: male-
436 female conflict and prey responses to single versus multiple predator environments.
437 *Oecologia* 117: 258-265.

438 Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. 2017. *lmerTest*
439 package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. *Journal of Statistical*
440 *Software* 82: 1–26.

441 Laha M, Mattingly HT. 2007. Ex situ evaluation of impacts of invasive mosquitofish on the
442 imperiled Barrens topminnow. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 78: 1–11.

443 Langerhans RB. 2007. Evolutionary consequences of predation: avoidance, escape, reproduction,
444 and diversification. In Elewa AMT (ed) *Predation in organisms*. Berlin, Springer.

445 Laurila A, Pakkasmaa S, Merilä J. 2006. Population divergence in growth rate and antipredator
446 defences in *Rana arvalis*. *Oecologia* 147: 585-595.

447 Leavell BC, Bernal XE. 2019. The cognitive ecology of stimulus ambiguity: a predator-prey
448 perspective. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 34: 1048-1060.

449 Lefebvre F, Caubet Y. 1999. On the male-effect in the terrestrial Crustacean *Armadillidium*
450 *vulgare* (Latreille, 1804). *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development* 35: 55-64.

451 Lima SL. 1998. Nonlethal effects in the ecology of predator-prey interactions. *BioScience* 48:
452 25-34.

453 Lima SL. 2002. Putting predators back into behavioral predator–prey interactions. *Trends in*
454 *Ecology and Evolution* 17: 70–75.

455 Lima SL, Dill LM. 1990. Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and
456 prospectus. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 68: 619-640.

457 Lind J, Cresswell W. 2005. Determining the fitness consequences of antipredator behavior.
458 *Behavioral Ecology* 16: 945-956.

459 Matsuno H, Moriyama T. 2012. Behavioral evidence for internal factors affecting duration of
460 conglobation in pill bugs (*Armadillidium vulgare*, Isopoda, Crustacea). *Acta Biologica*
461 *Hungarica* 63: 80-82.

462 McGhee KE, Pintor LM, Bell AM. 2013. Reciprocal behavioral plasticity and behavioral types
463 during predator-prey interactions. *The American Naturalist* 182: 704-717.

464 Menezes J. 2021. Antipredator behavior in the rock-paper-scissors model. *Physical Review E*
465 103: 052216.

466 Moll RJ, Eaton JT, Cepek JD, Lorch PD, Dennis PM, Robison T, Tsao J, Montgomery RA.
467 2020. Dynamic rodent behavioral response to predation risk: implications for disease
468 ecology. *Oecologia* 192: 67-78.

469 Møller AP, Erritzøe J. 2014. Predator-prey interactions, flight initiation distance and brain size.
470 *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 27: 34-42.

471 Mukherjee S, Heithaus MR. 2013. Dangerous prey and daring predators: A review. *Biological*
472 *Reviews* 88: 550–563.

473 Myette AL, Hossie TJ, Murray DL. 2019. Defensive posture in a terrestrial salamander deflects
474 predatory strikes irrespective of body size. *Behavioral Ecology* 30: 1691-1699.

475 Ortiz-Santaliestra M. 2014. Sapo común - *Bufo spinosus* Daudin, 1803. In Salvador A, Martínez-
476 Solano I (eds) *Enciclopedia virtual de los vertebrados españoles*. Museo Nacional de
477 Ciencias Naturales, Madrid. <http://www.vertebradosibericos.org/>

478 Palkovacs EP, Wasserman BA, Kinnison MT. 2011. Eco-evolutionary trophic dynamics: loss of
479 top predators drives trophic evolution and ecology of prey. *PLoS ONE* 6: e18879.

480 Palmer MS, Gaynor KM, Becker JA, Abraham JO, Mumma MA, Pringle RM. 2022. Dynamic
481 landscapes of fear: understanding spatiotemporal risk. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*
482 37: 911-925.

483 Paris OH. 1963. The ecology of *Armadillidium vulgare* (Isopoda: Oniscoidea) in California
484 grassland: food, enemies, and weather. *Ecological Monographs* 33: 1-22.

485 Pärssinen V, Hulthén K, Brönmark C, Björnerås C, Ugge GE, Gollnisch R, Hansson LA, Herzog
486 SD, Hu N, Johansson E, Lee M, Rengefors K, Sha Y, Škerlep M, Vinterstare J, Zhang H,

487 Langerhans RB, Nilsson PA. 2021. Variation in predation regime drives sex-specific
 488 differences in mosquitofish foraging behaviour. *Oikos* 130: 790-797.

489 Persons MH, Walker SE, Rypstra AL. 2002. Fitness costs and benefits of antipredator behavior
 490 mediated by chemotactile cues in the wolf spider *Pardosa milvina* (Araneae: Lycosidae).
 491 *Behavioral Ecology* 13: 386-392.

492 Pniewski KI. 2014. Do arthropod prey alter behavior when exposed to different combinations of
 493 sensory cues from predators? Master's Thesis, Montclair State University. Theses,
 494 Dissertations and Culminating Projects, 576.

495 Post P, Götmark F. 2006. Foraging behavior and predation risk in male and female Eurasian
 496 blackbirds (*Turdus merula*) during the breeding season. *The Auk* 123: 162-170

497 Preisser EL, Bolnick DI, Benard MF. 2005. Scared to death? The effects of intimidation and
 498 consumption in predator-prey interactions. *Ecology* 86: 501-509.

499 Qiao T, Cai Y, Fu S, Wang W. 2019. Stability and Hopf bifurcation in a predator-prey model
 500 with the cost of anti-predator behaviors. *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos*
 501 29: 1950185.

502 Quinn GP, Keough MJ. 2002. Experimental design and data analysis for biologists. Cambridge:
 503 Cambridge University Press.

504 R Core Team. 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation
 505 for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

506 Reichmuth JM, MacDonald J, Ramirez J, Weis JS. 2011. Fight or flight: an investigation of
 507 aggressive behavior and predator avoidance in two populations of blue crabs (*Callinectes*
 508 *sapidus* Rathbun) in New Jersey. *Hydrobiologia* 658: 173-182.

509 Reznick DN, Ghalambor CK, Crooks K. 2008. Experimental studies of evolution in guppies: a
510 model for understanding the evolutionary consequences of predator removal in natural
511 communities. *Molecular Ecology* 17: 97-107.

512 Roth ED, Johnson JA. 2004. Size-based variation in antipredator behavior within a snake
513 (*Agkistrodon piscivorus*) population. *Behavioral Ecology* 15: 365-370.

514 Saavedra I, Tomás G, Amo L. 2022. Assessing behavioral sex differences to chemical cues of
515 predation risk while provisioning nestlings in a hole-nesting bird. *PLoS ONE* 17:
516 e0268678.

517 Schmalfuss, H. 2003. World catalog of terrestrial isopods (Isopoda: Oniscidea). *Stuttgarter*
518 *Beitrage zur Naturkunde A (Biologie)* 654: 1–341.

519 Schuett W, Tregenza T, Dall SRX. 2010. Sexual selection and animal personality. *Biological*
520 *Reviews* 85: 217-246.

521 Schultz JC. 1981. Adaptive changes in antipredator behavior of a grasshopper during
522 development. *Evolution* 35: 175-179.

523 Sih A, Ziemba R, Harding KC. 2000. New insights on how temporal variation in predation risk
524 shapes prey behavior. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 15: 3-4.

525 Smigel JT, Gibbs AG. 2008. Conglobation in the pill bug, *Armadillidium vulgare*, as a water
526 conservation mechanism. *Journal of Insect Science* 8: 44.

527 Sommer NR, Schmitz OJ. 2020. Differences in prey personality mediate trophic cascades.
528 *Ecology and Evolution* 10: 9538-9551.

529 Sorensen EMB, Burkett RD. 1977. A population study of the isopod, *Armadillidium vulgare*, in
530 northeastern Texas. *The Southwestern Naturalist* 22: 375-388.

531 Supekar SC, Gramapurohit NP. 2020. Do antipredator responses of *Euphlyctis cyanophlyctis*
532 tadpoles depend on the intensity of predation risk? *Aquatic Ecology* 54: 823-837.

533 Suraci JP, Smith JA, Chamaillé-James S, Gaynor KM, Jones M, Luttbeg B, Ritchie MJ, Shreiff
534 MJ, Sih A. 2022. Beyond spatial overlap: harnessing new technologies to resolve the
535 complexities of predator-prey interactions. *Oikos* 2022: e09004.

536 [Surbida KL, Wright JC. 2001. Embryo tolerance and maternal control of the marsupial](#)
537 [environment in *Armadillidium vulgare* \(Isopoda: Oniscidea\). *Physiological and*](#)
538 [Biochemical Zoology](#) 74: 894-906.

539 Suzuki S. 2001. Structural changes of the female genitalia during a reproductive cycle in the
540 isopod crustacean, *Armadillidium vulgare*. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development*
541 40: 9-15.

542 [Suzuki S. 2002. Reconstruction of the female genitalia at molting in the isopod crustacean,](#)
543 [Armadillidium vulgare \(Latreille, 1084\). *Crustacean Research* 31: 18-27.](#)

544 Suzuki S, Futami K. 2018. Predatory risk increased due to egg-brooding in *Armadillidium*
545 *vulgare* (Isopoda: Oniscidea). *Ethology* 124: 256-259.

546 Tobler M, Franssen CM, Plath M. 2008. Male-biased predation of a cave fish by a giant water
547 bug. *Naturwissenschaften* 95: 775-779.

548 Tripathi JP, Bugalia S, Jana D, Gupta N, Tiwari V, Li J, Sun GQ. 2022. Modeling the cost of
549 anti-predator strategy in a predator-prey system: the roles of indirect effect. *Math Meth*
550 *Appl Sci* 45: 4365-4396.

551 Tuck JM, Hassall M. 2005. Locating food in a spatially heterogeneous environment: implications
552 for fitness of the macrodecomposer *Armadillidium vulgare* (Isopoda: Oniscidea).
553 *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 58: 545-551.

554 Tuf IH, Ďurajková B. 2022. Antipredatory strategies of terrestrial isopods. *ZooKeys* 1101: 109-
 555 129.

556 Valette V, Durand S, Bech N, Grandjean F, Beltran-Bech S. 2016. Multiple paternity in a wild
 557 population of *Armadillidium vulgare*: influence of infection with *Wolbachia*? *Journal of*
 558 *Evolutionary Biology* 30: 235-243.

559 van den Bemt TAM, Esteves Lopes L, Ribeiro Cunha FC. 2021. Sex differences in anti-
 560 predatory behaviour in lined seedeaters *Sporophila lineola*. *Ardea* 109: 27-32.

561 Verne S, Moreau J, Caubet Y, Bouchon D, Johnson M, Grandjean F. 2007. Male mating success
 562 during parturial intermoult in the terrestrial isopod *Armadillidium vulgare* revealed by
 563 the use of a microsatellite locus. *Journal of Crustacean Biology* 27: 217-219.

564 Wahle RA. 1992. Body-size dependent anti-predator mechanisms of the American lobster. *Oikos*
 565 65: 52-60.

566 Wang X, Zoy X. 2018. Pattern formation of a predator-prey model with the cost of anti-predator
 567 behaviors. *Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering* 15: 775-805.

568 Whitaker KW, Alvarez M, Preuss T, Cummings ME, Hofmann HA. 2021. Courting danger:
 569 socially dominant fish adjust their escape behavior and compensate for increased
 570 conspicuousness to avian predators. *Hydrobiologia* 848: 3667-3681.

571 Williams TM, Carroll SB. 2009. Genetic and molecular insights into the development and
 572 evolution of sexual dimorphism. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 10: 797-804.

573 Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Brown JS, Kotler BP, Schmitz OJ. 2021. The context dependence of
 574 non-consumptive predator effects. *Ecology Letters* 24: 113-129.

575 Woodrow C, Judge KA, Pulver C, Jonsson T, Montealegre F. 2021. The Ander's organ: a
576 mechanism for anti-predator ultrasound in a relict orthopteran. *Journal of Experimental*
577 *Biology* 224: jeb237289.

578 Yamamichi M, Klauschies T, Miner BE, van Velzen E. 2019. Modelling inducible defences in
579 predator-prey interactions: assumptions and dynamical consequences of three distinct
580 approaches. *Ecology Letters* 22: 390-404.

581 [Yao M, Rosenfeld J, Attridge S, Sidhu S, Aksenov V, Rollo CD. 2009. The ancient chemistry of](#)
582 [avoiding risks of predation and disease. *Evolutionary Biology* 36: 267-281.](#)

583 [Yli-Renko M, Pettay JE, Rothäusler E, Vesakoski O. 2022. Lack of anti-predator recognition in a](#)
584 [marine isopod under the threat of an invasive predatory crab. *Biological Invasions* 24:](#)
585 [3189-3198.](#)

586 Zamora-Camacho FJ. 2022. The relationships between toad behaviour, antipredator defences,
587 and spatial and sexual variation in predation pressure. *PeerJ* 10: e12985.

588 Zamora-Camacho FJ. 2023. Contextualising the bizarre: the integrated functioning of rib
589 puncture as an antipredator defence in the Iberian ribbed newt (*Pleurodeles waltl*).
590 *Freshwater Biology* 68: 462-472.

591 Zamora-Camacho FJ, Aragón P. 2019. Failed predator attacks have detrimental effects on
592 antipredatory capabilities through developmental plasticity in *Pelobates cultripes* toads.
593 *Functional Ecology* 33: 846–854.

594 Zamora-Camacho FJ, Calsbeek R. 2022. The intersection between locomotor performance, prey
595 consumption rate, and morphology under perceived competition and predation in
596 *Ambystoma maculatum* larvae. *South American Journal of Herpetology* 24: 58-66.

597 Zhang L, Liu J, Zhang H, Wan D, Liang W, Møller AP. 2020. Fight or flight: geographic
598 variation in antipredator defenses by cinereous tits. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 24:
599 e01207.

600 [Zimmerman KI, Kight SL. 2016. Responses of four arthropod prey species to mechanosensory,](#)
601 [chemosensory and visual cues from an arachnid predator: a comparative approach. *Life:*](#)
602 [The Excitement of Biology 4: 114-135.](#)

603 Zvereva EL, Zverev V, Kruglova OY, Kozlov MV. 2017. Strategies of chemical anti-predator
604 defences in leaf beetles: Is sequestration of plant toxins less costly than de novo
605 synthesis? *Oecologia* 183: 93–106.

606